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In the Supreme Court of the United States

No. 10-1417
FEIN , SUCH, KAHN AND SHEPARD , PC, PETITIONER
V.
DOROTHY RHUE ALLEN

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT

BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATES AS AMICUS CURIAE

INTEREST OF THE UNITED STATES

This brief is submitted in response to the order of
this Court inviting the Soli citor General to express the
views of the United States. In the view of the United
States, the petition for a writ of certiorari should be de-
nied.

STATEMENT

1. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA
or Act), 15 U.S.C. 1692t seq, is a consumer-protection
statute that was enacted in 1977, as Title VIII of the
Consumer Credit Protection Act, 15 U.S.C. 160%et seq
The Act regulates various practices pertaining to the
collection of consumer debtsy “debt collector[s].” The
term “debt collector” is defined to include “any person
* * * who regularly collects or attempts to collect, di-
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rectly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be
owed or due another.” 15 U.S.C. 1692a(6); séteintz v.
Jenkins, 514 U.S. 291, 292 (1995) (holding that a lawyer
who “‘regularly,” through litigation , tries to collect con-
sumer debts” is a “debt collector” within the meaning of
the FDCPA).

The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from, inter
alia, engaging in harassing or deceptive practices.
15 U.S.C. 1692d-1692e. It alsprohibits debt collectors
from using “unfair or unconscionable means to collect or
attempt to collect any debt.” 15 U.S.C. 1692f. That pro-
hibition encompasses “[tlhe collection of any amount
(including any interest, fee, charge, or expense inciden-
tal to the principal obligation) unless such amount is
expressly authorized by theagreement creating the debt
or permitted by law.” 15 U.S.C. 1692f(1). The FDCPA
significantly limits debt collectors’ ability to communi-
cate about consumer debts with anyone not legitimately
involved in the debt-collection and reporting process.
15 U.S.C. 1692c(b). The Act permits debt collectors to
communicate with consumers’ attorneys regarding the
collection of debts, however, seébid., and it generally
prohibits debt collectors from communicating directly
with consumers who are represented by counsel,
15 U.S.C. 1692c(a)(2); cfl5 U.S.C. 1692b(6) (generally
prohibiting debt collectors from communicating with
third persons to acquire location information about con-
sumers, when consumers are represented by counsel).

The FDCPA authorizes both private and governmen-
tal enforcement actions. In general, “any debt collector
who fails to comply with any provision of [the FDCPA]
with respect to any person is liable to such person.”
15 U.S.C. 1692k(a). A debtollector may not be held
liable under the FDCPA, however, if it “shows by a pre-
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ponderance of evidence that the violation was not inten-
tional and resulted from a bona fide error notwithstand-

ing the maintenance of procedures reasonably adapted
to avoid any such error.” 15 U.S.C. 1692k(c); seéer-
man v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rini, Kramer & Ulrich LPA
130 S. Ct. 1605, 1611-1624 (2010). Nor can a debt collec-
tor be held liable if it acts “in good faith in conformity
with” an appropriate governmental advisory opinion.

15 U.S.C. 1692k(e) (2006 & Supp. IV 2010).

A prevailing plaintiff in a private FDCPA suit is enti-
tled to recover actual damages and attorney’s fees.
15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(1) and (3). The district court may
also award “additional damages” subject to statutory
caps. 15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(2). In deciding whether to
award additional damages, the court considers “the ex-
tent to which the debt collector's noncompliance was
intentional,” “the nature of such noncompliance,” and
several other factors. 15 U.S.C. 1692k(b).

The Federal Trade Commission (FTC), the Con-
sumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau), and other
federal agencies enforcehe Act. 15 U.S.C. 169Ha)-(c)
(2006 & Supp. IV 2010). As relevant here, the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act (Dodd-Frank Act), Pub. L. No. 111-203, Tit. X,
124 Stat. 1955, amended the FDCPA and established
the Bureau, vesting it with significant authority relating
to the Act.® The Bureau now has the authority to issue
advisory opinions interpreting the Act. See 15 U.S.C.
1692k(e) (2006 & Supp. IV 2010). Congress also granted
the Bureau authority to “prescribe rules with respect to
the collection of debts bydebt collectors”—a power no

! Title X of the Dodd-Frank Act became effective on July 21, 2011.
Dodd-Frank Act § 1062, 124 Stat. 2039 (12 U.S.C. 5582 (Supp. IV 2010));
75 Fed. Reg. 57,252 (Sept. 10, 2010).
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agency previously had. 15 U.S.C. 16%9@) (Supp. IV
2010); see 12 U.S.C. 5512(b) (Supp. IV 2010) (granting
Bureau rulemaking authority for “Federal consumer
financial laws™); 12 U.S.C.5481(12)(H) and (14) (Supp.
IV 2010) (defining “Federal consumer financial law” to
include the FDCPA).

2. In 1976, respondent Dorothy Rhue Allen pur-
chased a home with a 30-yeamortgage. Pet. App. 3.
On May 7, 2007, after respondent missed the final pay-
ment on her mortgage, petitioner Fein, Such, Kahn &
Shepard, PC, a law firm, filed a foreclosure action
against respondent in New Jersey state court on behalf
of respondent’s mortgage lender.Id. at 3, 17-18, 36.

On June 7, 2007, petitioner sent a letter to respon-
dent’s counsel at counsel’s request. Pet. App. 3. The
letter purported to provide a “[p]ayoff quote subject to
audit and verification” for respondent’s loan consisting
of (a) $3425.31 in principal, interest, and other charges,
payable to the bank servicing the loan, and (b) $2372.14
for “[a]ttorneys fees and costs,” payable directly to peti-
tioner. Id. at 85-86; sedad. at 3, 18. The letter stated
that it was “an attempt to collect a debt,” and that “[a]ny
and all information obtained w[ould] be used for that
purpose.” Id. at 86. Later that day, petitioner sent a
second letter to respondent’s counsel itemizing the
$2372.14 in fees and costs that petitioner claimed it was
owed. Id. at 87-88; sead. at 3, 18.

On June 26, 2007, respondent’s counsel filed an an-
swer in the state foreclosure action, as well as a class-
action counterclaim and third-party complaint against
petitioner, respondent’s lender, and the bank servicing
the mortgage. Pet. App. 3-4,18, 60-84. Respondent al-
leged, inter alia , that petitioner’s two letters had vio-
lated the FDCPA. Id. at 3-4, 18, 66-68. Petitioner filed
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a motion to dismiss. Id. at 18. Before the court ruled on
the motion, respondent’s lender agreed to release the
mortgage and dismiss the foreclosure action.Id. at 4,
18-19. The state court disnssed respondent’s counter-
claim and third-party complaint without prejudice. Ibid.
Respondent then filed a putative class action in fed-
eral district court, again alleging, inter alia , that peti-
tioner’s two letters had violated the FDCPA. Pet. App.
4,19, 34-59. Respondent specifically alleged that peti-
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however, that “where a consumer’s attorney is inter-
posed between the debt collector and the debtor,”
“statements made only to a debtor’s attorney” should be
evaluated “from the perspective of the competent attor-
ney,” and that the “competent attorney standard”
should apply regardless of whether the claim is brought
under Section 1692d, 1692e, or 1692fd. at 27-28 & n.6.
The court found that “each of the[] alleged overcharges
and deceptive statements would be readily recognized”
as such “by a competent attorney representing a debtor
in a foreclosure action”; that the overcharges and decep-
tive statements would not “in fact deceive” such a com-
petent attorney; and that the actions of respondent’s
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A. The Court Of Appeals’ Decision Is Correct

Petitioner asks this Court to grant certiorari to de-
cide “whether a communicationfrom a debt collector to
a debtor’s attorney is actionable under the FDCPA.”
Pet. 5; see Pet. i, 9. Based on respondent’s concession
that she was relying solely on 15 U.S.C. 1692f(1), how-
ever, the court of appeals did not announce any rule gov-
erning the Act as a whole, but instead limited its holding
to that specific FDCPA provision. See Pet. App. 9 (nhot-
ing that “the issue here is whether § 1692f(1) governs
communications from a debt collector to a consumer’s
attorney”); see alsoid. at 3, 4. The court of appeals cor-
rectly held that communications to a consumer’s attor-
ney can violate that provision.

1. Section 1692f sets forth a general prohibition, fol-
lowed by a nonexclusive list of examples of conduct that
would violate that general ban. As relevant here, Sec-
tion 1692f states that

[a] debt collector may not use unfair or unconsciona-
ble means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.
Without limiting the general application of the fore-
going, the following conduct is a violation of this sec-
tion:

(1) The collection of any amount (including any
interest, fee, charge, or expense incidental to the
principal obligation) unless such amount is ex-
pressly authorized by the agreement creating the
debt or permitted by law.
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15 U.S.C. 1692f. There is no textual basis for limiting
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in one section of a statute but omits it in another section
of the same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress
acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclu-
sion or exclusion.” Russello v. United States, 464 U.S.
16, 23 (1983) (brackets in original; citation omitted). If
Section 1692f(1) is given its “ordinary English” meaning,
Heintz v. Jenkins, 514 U.S. 291, 294 (1995), it prohibits
the collection of unauthorized fees regardless of whether
the debt collector communicates directly with the con-
sumer or instead communicates with her attorney’

The plain meaning of Secton 1692f(1) is consistent
with the general structure of the FDCPA, which recog-
nizes that a debt collector may communicate with a
consumer through the consumer’s lawyer. The Act de-
fines the term “debt collector” to include a person who
“collects or attempts to collect” debts “indirectly.”
15 U.S.C. 1692a(6). It perrnts communications with a
consumer’s attorney in connection with the collection of
a debt. 15 U.S.C. 1692c(b). And it instructs debt collec-
tors that they can generally communicate only with the
attorneys of consumers who are represented by counsel.
15 U.S.C. 1692c(a)(2see 15 U.S.C. 1692h(6).

Congress thus clearly contemplated that the col-
lection of consumer debts would often involve commu-
nications to consumers’ attorneys. Against that back-
drop, Congress’s failure to exempt communications to
attorneys from Section 1692f(1) is particularly signifi-
cant. Indeed, the FDCPA would be substantially self-
defeating if compliance with the requirement that repre-
sented consumers be contacted through counsel could

® Heintz itself involved the same fact pattern at issue herej.e., the
plaintiff alleged a violation of 15 U.S.C. 1692f(1) based on a letter that
the debt collector had sent to the consumer’s attorney. 514 U.S. at 293.
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insulate debt collectors from all of the Act’s other prohi-
bitions.

2. Petitioner does not address the text of Section
1692f(1). In the court of gppeals, petitioner conceded
“that there is nothing in the FDCPA that explicitly ex-
empts communications to an attorney.” Pet. App. 9.
Instead, petitioner contends that the Act includes an
implied and categorical exemption for all communica-
tions between debt collectors and consumers’ attorneys.
That claim lacks merit.

a. Petitioner argues (Pet. 22-26) that the FDCPA
distinguishes for various purposes between a consumer
and her attorney. Petitioner cites two statutory defini-
tions that make clear that aconsumer’s attorney is not
a “consumer.” See Pet.23 (citing 15 U.S.C. 1692a(3),
1692c¢(d))® There is no question, however, that peti-
tioner was attempting to cdlect a debt from respondent
when it sent two letters to her attorney; indeed, peti-
tioner said as much in the first letter. Pet. App. 86 (stat-
ing that “[t]his communication is an attempt to collect a
debt”); seeid. at 85-86 (providing “[p]ayoff quote” for
mortgage). The prohibition set forth in Section 1692f(1)
is not limited to debt-collection methods that involve
communications “to a consumer,” let alone “directly to
a consumer.” Indeed, Sedbn 1692f(1) does not contain
the term “consumer” at all. If (as respondent alleges)
the “amount[s]” that petitioner sought were neither
“expressly authorized by the [mortgage] agreement” nor

® Section 1692a(3) provides that “[t]he term ‘consumer’ means any
natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt.”ressly authalleged2 Tw [(na2 dofl
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“permitted by law,” 15 U.S.C. 1692f(1), the FDCPA'’s
definitions of “consumer” do not cast doubt on Section
1692f(1)’s applicability here.

Petitioner also notes that the FDCPA permits debt
collectors to communicate with consumers’ attor-
neys about the collection of debts. Pet. 24-25 (citing
15 U.S.C. 1692hb(6), 1692c(a)(2nd (b)). As discussed
above, however, the factthat the FDCPA allows (and
sometimes requires) debt collectors to communicate di-
rectly with consumers’ attorneys does not suggest that,
when a debt collector does so, the FDCPA provides no
further protections. By sending the two letters to re-
spondent’s attorney rather than directly to respondent,
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are governed.” Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs.,
Inc., 523 U.S. 75, 79 (1998); seklertens v. Hewitt
Assocs, 508 U.S. 248, 261 (1993) (“[V]ague notions of a
statute’s ‘basic purpose’ are * * * inadequate to over-
come the words of its text regarding the specific issue
under consideration.”). Absent any textual basis for
reading Section 1692f(1) to exclude communications to
attorneys, petitioner’s contention that such an approach
would serve Congress’s purposes is simply beside the
point.

Second, the plain text of Section 1692f(1)—which
unambiguously prohibits the collection of unauthorized
fees through communications with a consumer’s attor-
ney—is entirely consistent with the overall purposes of
the FDCOwom 1.1trary to petitioner’s suggestion (Pet.
26-27), consumers are not the only intended beneficia-
ries of the Act’s protectionsom For example, the FDCOw
prohibits debt collectors from using or threatening to
use “violence or other criminal means to harm the physi-
cal person, reputation, or property ofany person,” and
from “[c]ausing a telephone to ring or engagingany per-
son in telephone conversation repeatedly or continu-
ously with intent to annoy, abuse, or harassany person
at the called number.” 15 U.S.C. 1692d(1) and (5) (em-
phases added)om The Act also serves in part to level the
playing field among debt collectors by “insur[ing] that
those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive
debt collection practices are not competitively disadvan-
taged.” 15 U.S.C. 1692(e).

In any event, reading Section 1692f(1) as written to
encompass communications to consumers’ attorneys
doesprotect the consumer, and does so more effectively
than the reading petitioner proposesom Petitioner asserts
that “[w]hen a debtor is represented by counsel, con-
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cerns about abusive debt collection practices * * *
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1692f(1) even if it demanded fees that it knew to be un-
authorized, so long as it pesented its demand to the con-
sumer’s attorney rather than to the consumer herself.

Acceptance of that theorywould not simply hinder
consumers’ own efforts to obtain redress through pri-
vate civil actions. Under the FDCPA, the enforcement
authority of the FTC, the Bureau, and other federal
agencies depends on the existence of a violation of the
Act. See 15 U.S.C. 1692a)-(c) (2006 & Supp. IV 2010).
If communications with consumers’ attorneys were cate-
gorically outside the Act’s purview, no matter how egre-
gious the conduct, the FDCPA would not authorize gov-
ernmental enforcement measures.

B. There Is No Square Confli ct Among The Courts Of Ap-
peals On The Question Decided By The Third Circuit

Petitioner asserts that a “three-way circuit conflict”
exists on the question whether “a communication from
a debt collector to a debtors attorney [is] actionable
under the FDCPA.” Pet. 9. That argument rests on a
misunderstanding of the court of appeals’ decision. The
court did not announce a rule that governs all provisions
of the FDCPA, but instead confined its analysis to Sec-
tion 1692f(1). With respect to the question whether a
communication to an attorney can violate that provision,
no square circuit conflict exists.

1. No court of appeals has held that the collection of
unauthorized fees through communications to consum-
ers’ attorneys is categorically outside Section 1692f(1)’s
purview. And every court of appeals to decide the ques-
tion has held that communications to attorneys can vio-
late Section 1692f.
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485 F.3d 226 (2007), the Fourth Circuit rejected the ar-
gument that “FDCPA liability cannot attach to commu-
nications made by a debt collection attorney to a
debtor’s counsel, rather than to the debtor.” Id. at 232-
233. Although the court did not engage in any substan-
tive analysis of the particular FDCPA provisions at is-
sue, the plaintiffs in that case had alleged violations of
Sections 1692e and 1692f, including Section 1692f(1y.
at 228-229, 234, 235 n.2. And Evory, the Seventh Cir-
cuit concluded that “communications to lawyers are sub-
ject to sections 1692d thraugh 1692f.” 505 F.3d at 772-
774. As the court explainel, none of those sections
“designate any class of persons, such as lawyers, who
can be abused, misled, etc., by debt collectors with impu-
nity.” Id. at 7732

neys for putative debtors cannot constitute violations of the FDCPA.”
Id. at 127; see Pet. 10 n.2. The court stated that “[w]here an attorney
is interposed as an intermediary between a debt collector and a con-
sumer,” the attorney “will protect the consumer from a debt collector’s
fraudulent or harassing behavior.” Kropelnicki , 290 F.3d at 128. The
Second Circuit expressly declined, however, to “rule” on the issuelbid.

& Petitioner contends that it would have prevailed in the Seventh Cir-
cuit “because [rlespondent’s counsel was not deceived by the alleged
inaccuracies in the Payoff Letters.” Pe. 15; see Pet. 14-15. In discuss-
ing Section 1692e, the Seventh Circuit ifevory distinguished between
“deceptive” and “misleading” representations, on the one hand, and
“false” representations, on the other. 505 F.3d at 772, 774-775; see
15 U.S.C. 1692e (prohibiting “false, deceptive, or misleading represen-
tation[s]”). With respect to the former, the court concluded that, when
a communication to an attorney is alleged to violate the FDCPA, “arep-
resentation by a debt collector that would be unlikely to deceive a
competent lawyer * * * should not be actionable.”Evory, 505 F.3d at
775. With respect to the latter, thecourt suggested that a lawyer might
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Petitioner also contends (Pet. 11-14) that the decision
below conflicts with the Ninth Circuit’s ruling in
Guerrero. In Guerrero, the court considered FDCPA
claims brought under Secions 1692e and 1692g(b). 499
F.3d at 935-936 (describing “the provisions at issue
here”); cf. id. at 934 (suggesting that district court con-
strued plaintiff’s claim to include a violation of Section
1692f). The court concluded that the debt collector in
that case “did not violate [Sections] 1692g(b) or 1692e”
because “communications directed solely to a debtor’s
attorney are not actionable under the Act.” Id. at 934.

BecauseGuerrero did not involve a claim under Sec-
tion 1692f(1), and the court of appeals in this case lim-
ited its holding to that provision, no square conflict be-
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(footnote omitted); id. at 939 (holding “that when the
debt collector * * * communicates exclusively with an
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suggest that the court’s analysis was not limited to the
specific FDCPA provisions at issue in the case.

There is consequently significant tension between
the Ninth Circuit’s decision in Guerrero and the decision
below. That tension, however, is relatively recent and
shallow. Many courts of gpeals have not yet addressed
the FDCPA'’s application to communications to attor-
neys. Cf.Hemmingsen v. Messerli & Kramer, P.A.,
No. 11-2029 (8th Cir. argued Dec. 15, 2011). And since
the Ninth Circuit’'s decision in Guerrero, two other
courts of appeals have held that communications to con-
sumers’ attorneys can violate the FDCPA. Seetvory,
505 F.3d at 773-774; Pet. App7-10. Seven of the nine
district court decisions on which theGuerrero court re-
lied, moreover, were issued by district courts within the
Seventh Circuit, and those rulings have since been su-
perseded byEvory. CompareEvory, 505 F.3d at 772,
777-778, withGuerrero, 499 F.3d at 936 & n.5. In light
of those facts, and because no square circuit conflict ex-
ists regarding the proper application of Section 1692f(1),
this Court’s review would be premature at the present
time.

2. Two other considerations reinforce the conclusion
that this Court's review is currently unwarranted.
First, the Bureau now has statutory authority to pre-
scribe rules under the FDCPA, see 15 U.S.C. 1692d)
(Supp. IV 2010); see also 12 U.S.C. 5512(b) and
5481(12)(H) and (14) (SupplV 2010), and the Bureau
has informed us that it regards the promulgation of such
rules as a regulatory priority . If the Bureau issues a
rule that addresses the question presented here, its in-
terpretation of Section 1692f(1) will be entitled to defer-
ence under the principles set forth inChevron U.S.A.
Inc. v.NRDC, 467 U.S. 837, 842-845 (1984). Such regu-
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lations, moreover, would provide a basis for the courts
of appeals to revisit any contrary holdings in their own
prior decisions. SeeNational Cable & Telecomms.
Ass’'nv.Brand X Internet Servs., 545 U.S. 967, 982-985
(2005).

Second, this case is currently in an interlocutory pos-
ture, and this Court “generally await[s] final judgment
in the lower courts before exercising [its] certiorari ju-
risdiction.” VMI v. United States, 508 U.S. 946, 946
(1993) (Scalia, J., respecting denial of certiorari). The
court of appeals remanded this case to the district court
to consider, inter alia , “alternative grounds for dis-
missal set forth in the motions to dismiss” filed by peti-
tioner and the other defendants. Pet. App. 12. The
court emphasized that it “express[ed] no opinion as to
whether [respondent] has alleged a viable claim.”Ibid .
If petitioner prevails on th ose alternative grounds, this
Court’s resolution of the question presented will be un-
necessary. If respondent ultimately prevails in her suit,
petitioner will be able to raise its current claim, together
with any other claims that may arise on remand, in a
single petition for a writ of certiorari. See Major
League Baseball Players Ass’nv. Garvey, 532 U.S. 504,
508 n.1 (2001) (per curiam).
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